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Preface

This book is devoted to the history and architecture of 39 extant and 302
vanished synagogues, situated in 23 cities and towns throughout the historical
region of Volhynia in the northwestern region of the Republic of Ukraine.

Geographical and Historical Scope of the Book

By historical Volhynia we refer to the Volhynian province (guberniia) of the
Russian Empire in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, when the ma-
jority of synagogues on this territory were built.

Since the tenth century Volhynia was part of Kievan Rus and constituted the
Volhynian (later Halych-Volhynian) principality. In the fourteenth century its
territory became part of the Grand Duchy of Lithuania and in 1569, when Lith-
uania united with Poland to form a commonwealth, Volhynia was transferred
to the Polish Kingdom. During the second and third partitions of the Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealth in 1793 and 1795, this territory was annexed by
the Russian Empire and the Volhynian guberniia was created out of the entire
Woltyn wojewddztwo and the western part of the Kijow wojewddztwo of the
former Polish Kingdom.

After the First World War, the Russian Revolution of 1917, the short-lived
Ukrainian People’s Republic, the Civil War, and the Soviet-Polish War, in 1921
historical Volhynia was divided between the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Re-
public and the Second Polish Republic. Its western, Polish, part constituted the
Wotyn wojewddztwo (with its center in Luck), while the Soviet part was divided
between smaller administrative units: the Zhitomir (Molhynian), Korosten’, and
Shepetovka okruga, which existed form 1923 to 1930. In 1935 those okruga
were re-established, but in 1937 they were transformed into the Zhitomir and
Kamenets-Podol’skii oblasti.

With the outbreak of World War 1l in 1939, the western part of Volhynia
was annexed by the Soviet Union and divided into Volyn’ (with its center in
Lutsk) and the Rovno oblasti, while its southwestern part was included in the
Ternopol’ oblast’, all three being part of the Ukrainian SSR. Under the Nazi
occupation in 1941-1944 \olhynia in its entirety was incorporated into the
Reichskommissariat Ukraine and formed part of the Wolhynien und Podolien
Generalbezirk and Schitomir Generalbezirk. After the war, the previous Soviet
oblasti were reconstituted, and in 1954 the Kamenets-Podol’skii oblast’ was
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renamed Khmel’nitskii oblast’. The Soviet administrative territorial division has
been preserved since the independence of Ukraine in 1991, so that historical
Volhynia is currently divided between the Zhytomyr, Khmel’nyts’kyi, Rivne,
\Volyn’, and Ternopil” oblasti.

Methodology and Structure of the Book

This book includes three overview essays on the history of the synagogues in
\Volhynia, their architecture, and their ritual objects, which are followed by 23
geographical chapters, discussing each Jewish community in which at least one
synagogue building is preserved.

The unique approach of this book is to immerse the preserved synagogues
in the local context and study their history and architecture as parts of a town-
scape in which more synagogues and prayer houses existed over the centuries.
Therefore, each chapter in this book is divided into two sections: historical
and architectural. Vladimir Levin was mainly responsible for the former, while
Sergey Kravtsov wrote the majority of the latter.

The historical section of each chapter focuses on the history of synagogues
in a given town and does not intend to present a full-scale history of its Jews,
nor a general local history. Nonetheless, each chapter provides the Ukrainian,
Russian, Polish, and Jewish names of a town, lists territorial administrative
units to which that town belonged during its history, presents statistics of the
Jewish population in the town, and places it in its geographical context. Every
chapter contains brief information on the establishment of the town, the first
appearance of Jews there, and the fate of the Jewish population during the
Holocaust. We also could not refrain from mentioning the most important facts
and events of Jewish life of every town: what singled out this community and
its outstanding personalities, even if they were not connected to the history of
synagogues. The geographical names beside the introductory section are given
in Polish, Ukrainian, or Russian, depending to which state it belongs today.

Our approach in the historical sections of the chapters is to focus on the
unique historical features of each community, putting aside everything that is
common and typical. Thus, we deliberately avoided economic history and did
not mention that in every urban community the majority of the Jews were em-
ployed in trade and crafts. Indeed, according to the 1897 all-Russian census, 39
percent of the Jews in the Volhynian guberniia engaged in trade and 35 percent
in industry (the majority of them in crafts).! We deliberately left aside cultural
and educational history. All communities had a large number of hadarim — Jew-
ish traditional religious single-teacher private schools in which ca. three-quar-
ters of all Jewish children of school age learned in the late nineteenth century.
All large communities had one or more modern Jewish schools in the late nine-
teenth century (43 in the entire guberniia in 1898),2 and such schools existed
almost everywhere in the interwar period. We deliberately did not deal with po-
litical and institutional history, since almost in every significant town the Zionist
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movement emerged in the last years of the nineteenth century, and the Jewish
socialist movement (especially the Jewish Labor Bund) appeared in the early
twentieth century. In the interwar period, Zionism with its diverse branches
and youth movements was predominant in Jewish politics in the Polish part of
\Volhynia, while the Soviet authorities and the Yevsektsiia (Jewish sections of
the Communist Party) dealt a mortal blow to non-communist Jewish political
activity, independent organizations, and religious life in its Soviet part. We also
largely omitted information on community rabbis, except for the most famous
or those who played a role in synagogue history.

Those interested in more detailed histories of the Volhynian Jewish commu-
nities may turn for further reading to many publications, available in a variety
of languages. First and foremost is Pinkas ha-kehilot, edited by Shmuel Spec-
tor and published by Yad Vashem in Hebrew in 1990.* Many of its entries were
translated into English and can be found on the Internet.> Secondly, almost
every community in the western part of Volhynia is commemorated in a me-
morial book (yizker-bukh, sefer zikaron), written and published by its former
residents who survived the Holocaust and found themselves outside the Soviet
Union. The efforts to commemorate in writing the perished communities in
Volhynia began at the end of World War 11, in April 1945, when the first issue of
a periodical Yalkut volhyn: osef zikhronot ve-teudot was published in Tel Aviv,
under the editorship of Arie Avatihi, Haim Ben-Tsiyon Ayalon and A. Zamir.
In the 1950s and 1960s those and others activists edited at least 43 memorial
books in Hebrew and Yiddish.® Parts of them can be found in English transla-
tions, especially on the JewishGen website.” Third, there are several Jewish
encyclopedias, especially Rossiiskaia evreiskaia entsiklopedia, available on
the Internet,® a three-volume English-language Jewish Life before and during
the Holocaust,® the YIVO Encyclopedia of Jews in Eastern Europe,*® and an in-
ternet project, Virtual Shtetl, in Polish, English, as well as Belarusian, German,
Hebrew, and Russian.™*

The architectural section of each chapter provides a detailed description of
every preserved synagogue building. These descriptions elucidate the urban
location of the synagogue, the composition of its built masses, materials, and
constructions of the edifice; they characterize the synagogue’s facades (eleva-
tions), interior layout, decoration, major liturgical appliances, furniture, and
fixtures. The descriptions also analyze the architectural style(s) of each edifice
and its architectural typology and iconography, that is, its relationship to estab-
lished spatial and iconic patterns popular in synagogue architecture and in the
broader scope of compatible buildings.

In certain cases, destroyed synagogues are reconstructed and described in
detail, based on archival drawings, photographs, and verbal descriptions, as if
they were standing before our very eyes. These cases on the whole relate to
outstanding edifices which attracted the attention of researchers since the late
nineteenth century, and without which the architectural history of synagogues
in Volhynia cannot be comprehended. These descriptions are integrated into
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historical part of the individual geographical chapters. Conversely, reconstruc-
tions and descriptions of preserved synagogues at the stage of their prosperity
and grandeur, on the basis of documentation, as well as information about their
consequent physical reconstruction, are included in the architectural section of
the chapter.

The architectural description of each synagogue is accompanied by its mea-
sured drawings, by archival and recent photographs, and by artistic representa-
tions. Recent architectural drawings published in this book were commissioned
by the Center for Jewish Art at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem in the
1990s and 2000s, as part of the larger effort to document the remnants of the
Jewish visual heritage in the former Soviet Union. The visual evidence for the
historical appearance of Volhynian synagogues was retrieved from collections
in Austria, Israel, Poland, Russia, Ukraine, the United Kingdom, and the USA.
Significant efforts were invested in identifying archival photographs. As a re-
sult, attribution of many historical photos has been improved regarding their
subject, date, and authorship; a certain number of unidentified photographs
were referred to specific synagogues.

The goal of this book is not only to expose the synagogues as units of built
heritage, but also to interpret them as monuments of culture, as mediators of
meanings. Above all, these meanings were imbued in the built form by archi-
tects and decorators. They are seldom explained in contemporary texts; more of-
ten they are conveyed through the artistic vocabulary customary among profes-
sionals. These meanings are often re-interpreted by the users of the synagogue
and its beholders, and thus new significations are created within a living Jewish
community and its non-Jewish milieu. Therefore, in the multiethnic, multi-re-
ligious, and even further divided society of a Volhynian town there is no single
meaning for a synagogue. In some cases, stories told about the same synagogue
in diverse milieus are similar, but at other times they are ultimately disparate.
For these reasons, the methodology of present architectural research seeks to
confront all known narratives: the professional architectural, the Jewish, and
that of the neighbors.*?> Such multiple reference aims not only at providing an
all-round view of the synagogue as an artistic and cultural phenomenon; it is
also instrumental in constructing a Jewish place of memory in the Volhynian
townscape. Memory is transmitted not only through professional historiography.
Therefore, in addition to the conventional historical-architectural approach to
the synagogues and their history, we also attempt to analyze the folkloristic and
belletristic narratives about the same buildings, according to the rules of these
genres. In all these cases, our interest is focused on the meaning of a synagogue
in the narrator’s eyes, rather than on “the historical kernel” of his narrative.

One of the sources of Jewish legends relating to many Volhynian synagogues
is Di yidishe etnografie un folklor by Avrom Rekhtman®*a member of Solomon
An-sky’s ethnographic expedition of 1912-13. This expedition recorded in pho-
tography, sound, and word the vanishing traditional Jewish world in the Kiey,
\Volhynia, and Podolia provinces. One of organizers of An-sky’s expedition was
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lona Moiseevich Machover, a lawyer residing in Kiev and working closely with
Baron Vladimir Gintsburg, who financed the entire enterprise.** To our great
surprise and honor, lona Machover is that very John M. Machover (1880-1971)
who posthumously made possible for us the present study — publication of a
book on synagogues in Volhynia. Due to the generosity of the J. M. Machover
Charitable Trust we feel that we are to some extent closing the circle of Jewish
studies inaugurated a century ago.
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Notes on Transliteration and Geographical Names

The transliteration of Hebrew generally follows the rules of the Encyclopaedia
Judaica: “n” is transliterated as “h,” “7” —as “h,” and “¥” — as “ts.” All Hebrew
words are given according to the modern Israeli norm, and not in the Ashkenazi
pronunciation common in eastern Europe. The transliteration of Yiddish fol-
lows the YIVO system, while the transliteration of Russian and Ukrainian that
of the Library of Congress, omitting diacritical signs.

All geographical names in the text of the book are given in their current
Ukrainian, Polish or Russian forms, according to the current state belonging.
An exception has been made for Kiev, which has become normative in English.
However, we omitted apostrophes for transliteration of the Ukrainian “p” in the
frequently used geographical names in order to make reading easier.

Maps and Plans

Each city or town chapter is accompanied by a topographical map of the vicin-
ity. These maps were published by the Polish Military Geographical Institute
in the 1920s. The individual town plans, showing the synagogues and other
important elements of the urban space, were prepared for this edition by Zoya
Arshavsky at the Center for Jewish Art.
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